RECEIVED

Jan 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001945

Lower Court Case No. 2023-CP-24-00800

The Estate of Herbert Rivers Anderson, Jr., by its Successor Personal Representative,
J. Kershaw Spong.....Appellant,

v.

Anderson Family Properties of Greenwood, LLC.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Benjamin R. Gooding [SC Bar #100620]
Sarah C. Frierson [SC Bar #104643]
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, SC 29211
Telephone: (803) 929-1400
Facsimile: (803) 929-0300

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in granting Respondent's motion to dismiss based on a premature and inequitable statute of limitations when it disregarded the factual allegations of the Estate's Amended Complaint, ignored the equitable tolling argument raised by Respondent, and overlooked the alternate cause of action for fraudulent conveyance under the Statute of Elizabeth?

- II. Did the circuit court err in denying Appellant's motion to amend when the circuit court failed to exercise its discretion and analyze whether the proposed amendments to the complaint would be futile?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is collection action brought by Appellant the Estate of Herbert R. Anderson, Jr. (the “Estate”) to collect on two promissory notes from Respondent Anderson Family Properties of Greenwood, LLC (“AFP”) that were executed in favor of Herbert Anderson during his lifetime.

On August 25, 2023, the personal representative of the Estate filed the original complaint, asserting a single cause of action for breach of contract of the underlying notes. *See generally* Compl. On September 29, 2023, AFP filed a motion to dismiss, arguing the statute of limitations barred the breach of contract claim. Initial Mot. to Dismiss.

While that motion to dismiss was pending, one of the Estate’s creditors filed a petition to remove the Estate’s personal representative. Mot. for Stay. Shortly thereafter, on November 13, 2023, the Estate moved to stay this action before the circuit court while the probate court determined the issue of removal of the personal representative. *Id.* On March 11, 2024, the probate court entered a consent order, allowing the personal representative to step down and appointing a successor personal representative. Order Appointing Successor PR.

Pursuant to the circuit court’s order granting a consent motion to amend, the Successor Personal Representative filed an amended complaint, asserting causes of action for (1) breach of contract, (2) unjust enrichment, (3) constructive trust, and, in the alternative, (4) a violation of the Statute of Elizabeth, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-23-10, related to the underlying notes. Consent Order to Amend, Am. Compl. On November 4, 2025, AFP moved to dismiss, again arguing the statute of limitations barred the claims in the Amended Complaint. Mot. to Dismiss Am. Compl. On February 6, 2025, the Estate filed a response in opposition of the motion to dismiss. Resp. in Opp. On February 10, 2025, the circuit court held a hearing via WebEx on AFP’s motion. *See generally* Tr.

The circuit court issued a Form 4 order granting the motion to dismiss on April 9, 2025, finding the statute of limitations for enforcing the promissory notes at issue ran in 2015 and 2017, respectively (the “Order”). Order. The Order does not address the four different causes of action brought by Estate but simply checks the box that the Order ends the case. Order.

On April 18, 2025, the Estate filed a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, or, in the alternative, for leave to amend pursuant to Rule 15(a), SCRCP, arguing that the factual findings of the Dismissal Order were not supported by the allegations of the Amended Complaint, that the circuit court misapplied the law on the statute of limitations, that the circuit court failed to address the Estate’s equitable tolling argument, that the circuit court failed to address the Estate’s alternate claim under the Statute of Elizabeth, and that newly discovered information justified further amendment to the Amended Complaint. Mot. to Recons.

The Estate filed a memorandum in further support of its motion on June 26, 2025, which outlined the newly discovered facts and attached a proposed Second Amended Complaint. Memo. in Supp. On July 1, 2025, AFP filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion to reconsider or, in the alternative, to amend. Memo. in Opp.

On September 16, 2025, without a hearing or further argument, the circuit court issued another Form 4 Order, denying the motion to reconsider or, in the alternative, to amend. Order on Mot. to Recons. On September 22, 2025, the Estate timely filed its Notice of Appeal. Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS¹

This case involves enforcement of promissory notes that AFP gave to Herbert Rivers Anderson, Jr. (“Anderson”) in exchange for the transfer of real property worth several million dollars. Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 10-13. These promissory notes were to be repaid upon the subsequent sales of the underlying real property. Notes. Despite sales of property without payment in accordance with the promissory notes, Anderson failed to enforce the promissory notes during his lifetime, and the initial personal representative of his Estate, Charles W. Schulze—who also was the manager of AFP and a close family friend and accountant/financial advisor to the Anderson family—failed to enforce the promissory notes after Anderson’s death. Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 18-21. The circumstances surrounding the transfer of this property and the failure to collect on the promissory notes raise questions about whether the transfer was part of a broader scheme to avoid a payment to a major creditor, the George B. Buchanan, Jr. Irrevocable Family Trust dated July 15, 2001 (the “Buchanan Trust”). 2nd Am. Comp. at ¶ 3.

In January 2012, the Buchanan Trust filed a foreclosure action against Springs North Augusta, LLC on a note and mortgage that Anderson personally guaranteed as a member of Springs North Augusta, LLC. 2nd Am. Comp. at ¶ 17. The Buchanan Trust later filed an action on March 5, 2013, against Anderson personally to collect a deficiency judgment resulting from

¹ Because the circuit court dismissed this case in its infancy, before any discovery could be conducted, the facts contained in this section are based on the allegations contained in the Amended Complaint and the proposed Second Amended Complaint. While no discovery has occurred in this action, the Successor Personal Representative drafted the Amended and Second Amended Complaints based on information he was able to glean from his preliminary investigation into the Estate’s affairs, as the first non-interested party to the transaction. Ultimately, based on the applicable standard of review, these facts should be considered true for purposes of deciding the appeal of the grant of the motion to dismiss at issue here.

this debt and the foreclosure sale. 2nd Am. Compl. at 13. This deficiency judgment is the underlying basis of the Buchanan Trust's creditor claim in the Estate. *Id.*

AFP is a land development company formed in March 2012, less than a month after the Buchanan Trust instituted its action against Anderson personally. Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 7, 9. AFP executed its Articles of Organization on March 30, 2012, which were later filed with the Secretary of State of South Carolina on April 17, 2012. Am. Compl. at ¶ 7, 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 20. AFP is a member managed limited liability company. 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 23. Under the Articles of Organization and the Operating Agreement, Schulze is the managing member. Am. Compl. at ¶ 2, 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 23. The Operating Agreement of AFP gave broad powers to Schulze, including the power to open and maintain bank accounts, draw checks for payment of money, acquire and dispose of any assets, and to pay the debts and obligations of the limited liability company. 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 24. AFP was primarily owed by Anderson's wife, Gwen Anderson, who owned 90% of the membership interests/units. Am. Compl. at ¶ 14. Despite transferring real property worth millions of dollars into AFP, Anderson held only a .52% interest in AFP.² Am. Compl. at ¶ 14, 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 25.

On March 22, 2012, Schulze executed a Promissory Note on behalf of AFP in favor of Anderson in the amount of \$1,560,000.00 ("2012 Note"). 2012 Note. On July 2, 2014, Schulze executed another Promissory Note on behalf of AFP in favor of Anderson in the amount of \$1,218,375.00 ("2014 Note") (collectively, the 2012 Note and 2014 Note are referred to as the "Notes"). 2014 Note. In conjunction with the execution of each of the Notes, Anderson transferred

² Schulze also held a .51% interest in AFP. The remaining interest was owned by the children of Gwen and Anderson: Kenneth Anderson (2.99%), Keith Anderson (now deceased) (2.99%), and Kim Hatfield (2.99%). 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 25.

multiple parcels of real property to AFP through a series of deeds (hereafter, the “Deeds”). Deeds. The Notes are the only consideration for the transfer of these parcels.

The Notes do not appear to have been drafted by an attorney. 2012 & 2014 Notes. They accrue interest at 2% per annum and can be prepaid without penalty. *Id.* The Notes do not contain a maturity date but instead require repayment of 75% of the net proceeds from the sale of any of the real property that Anderson transferred to AFP. *Id.*

Despite sales of the underlying properties taking place both during Anderson’s lifetime and after his death, note payments did not follow as required by the Notes. Am. Compl. at ¶ 17, 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 38. For each sale that took place—both before Anderson’s death and during the more than four years Schulze served as the personal representative of the Estate—Schulze was also the acting manager of AFP. Am. Compl. at ¶ 2, 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 10. Schulze executed most of the deeds from AFP to third-party purchasers for value. Deeds. Accordingly, he was fully aware of and cannot disclaim knowledge of these sales.

Anderson died on November 2, 2018. Am. Compl. at ¶ 3, 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 5. After his Estate was opened, Schulze was appointed the personal representative. Am. Compl. at ¶ 1, 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶ 9. At the time of Anderson’s death in 2018, the total amount owed on the Notes was more than \$2,200,000.00. Am. Compl. at ¶ 19. Despite being aware of the Notes and the sales of the various parcels of underlying property that would trigger payments being due, Schulze as the manager of AFP did not cause any payments to be made to the Estate and as the personal representative did not bring any action to collect on the Notes until August 25, 2023, when he filed the original complaint here. Am. Compl. at ¶ 3, 2nd Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 44-47. The initial complaint filed by Schulze was in response to increased pressures from the Buchanan Trust to uncover this ruse and remove Schulze as personal representative of the Estate; however, it was

a halfhearted effort limited in scope, setting forth a limited recitation of the factual background and a single cause of action for breach of contract. *See generally* Compl. Based on the limited facts presented, AFP moved to dismiss the original complaint, arguing the breach of contract cause of action was barred by the statute of limitations. Mot. to Dismiss.

Shortly after the complaint was filed, the Buchanan Trust instituted proceedings in the circuit court to remove Schulze as the personal representative, based on various allegations of conflicts of interest, self-dealing, and delay in probating the Estate. Mot. for Stay. While this petition was pending, in May 2024, Schulze resigned as personal representative, and a consent order was entered appointing J. Kershaw Spong as the Successor Personal Representative. Consent Order.

Upon his appointment, Spong retained new counsel and filed the Amended Complaint, which greatly expounded on the factual background related to the Notes asserted four different causes of action: (1) breach of contract, (2) unjust enrichment, (3) constructive trust, and, in the alternative, (4) a violation of the Statute of Elizabeth, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-23-10, related to the real property transferred in exchange for the Notes. *See generally* Am. Compl. AFP again moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint. Mot. to Dismiss Am. Compl. This motion largely mirrored the original and, notably, addressed only the statute of limitations for the breach of contract cause of action. *Id.* The motion did not address any of the alternative causes of action, *id.*, and AFP did not file any additional briefing with the circuit court before the hearing. On February 6, 2025, the Estate filed a response in opposition to AFP's motion to dismiss the amended complaint. Resp. in Opp. Because the motion did so, this response focused exclusively on the statute of limitations argument for the breach of contract cause of action. *Id.*

On February 10, 2025, the circuit court held a hearing via WebEx on the motion to dismiss.³ Tr. At the hearing, the argument focused almost entirely on AFP's position that the statute of limitations barred any collection enforcement of the Notes. *See generally* Tr.

Two months later, on April 9, 2025, the circuit court issued a Form 4 order, granting the motion to dismiss the amended complaint. The Order was two pages and contained the following substantive findings and conclusions of law:

This case concerns two notes dated March 22, 2012 and July 2, 2014. Plaintiff transferred real estate to Defendant and took in return these notes. No payment was ever made on these notes. The March 22, 2012 note specifically states that the obligation to repay began on March 24, 2012, and the July 2, 2014 note similarly states that the repayment obligation began on August 2, 2014. Both notes contemplate that, beginning on March 24, 2012 and August 2, 2014 respectively, upon sale of lots which were transferred to Defendant in consideration of the notes, payment of 75% of the proceeds from such a sale is required. With regard to the 2012 note, lots were sold in 2012-2015, and with regard to the 2014 note, lots were sold in 2014-2016. Again, no payment was ever made on these notes, and Herbert Anderson passed away on November 2, 2018.

Pursuant to the express terms of the notes, the triggering event (post March 24, 2012 and August 2, 2014) which required repayment under each note was the sale of any lot exchanged for that respective note. Clearly, an action on either note would be barred three (3) years after a sale takes place, and the earliest sale for each note occurred the same year as the notes were executed. Accordingly, with respect to the 2012 note, because sales of lots took place that same year, the statute of limitations ran on that note sometime in 2015. Similarly, with respect to the 2014 note, because lots were also sold in 2014, the statute of limitations ran on that note sometime in 2017.

...

³ At the hearing, the circuit court heard arguments on motions to dismiss in two separate, but related cases: this case and a sister case involving another entity created by Anderson, Southern Land Development Corporation. The Southern Land Development case involved similar facts and a note containing different payment terms. Due to the factual differences in the cases, the circuit court denied the motion to dismiss in Southern Land Development case but granted the motion to dismiss here.

Simply stated, no factual dispute exists as to the triggering event which precipitated the requirement for repayment or as to the year for which the triggering event took place with respect to each note. Accordingly, Defendant's 12(b)(6) motion is granted.

Order. The Order indicates that it ends the case. *Id.*

On April 18, 2025, the Estate filed a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, or, in the alternative, for leave to amend pursuant to Rule 15(a), SCRCF. In this motion, the Estate argued that the factual findings of the Order were not supported by the allegations of the Amended Complaint, that the circuit court failed to address its equitable tolling argument,⁴ that the circuit court failed to address the Estate's alternate claim under the Statute of Elizabeth, and that newly discovered information justified further amendment to the Amended Complaint. Mot. to Recons.

On June 26, 2025, the Estate filed a memorandum in further support of its motion to amend, which outlined the new facts that had been discovered and attached a proposed Second Amended Complaint. Memo. in Support. Specifically, the Second Amended Complaint included new allegations concerning land conveyances and payments on the underlying notes, which serve to re-start statute of limitations. 2nd Am. Compl. The Second Amended Complaint also alleges that under the plain language of the Notes, the parties intended to create a separate obligation for payment for each sale of property that subsequently took place. *Id.* Finally, the Second Amended Complaint includes an alternative cause of action as to Schulze for breach of fiduciary duty based on the direct conflict of interest between his competing duties as personal representative of the

⁴ The circuit court also failed to address the unjust enrichment and constructive trust claims. Because these claims are subject to a three-year statute of limitations and would be triggered by the same events, they are also affected by the circuit court's erroneous rulings. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-530(1) & (4) (stating the statute of limitations is three years for "an action upon a contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied" and "an action for taking, detaining, or injuring any goods or chattels including an action for the specific recovery of personal property").

Estate and as manager of AFP and, to the extent that claims are now barred due to his inaction as personal representative, the Estate has been harmed by such inaction. *Id.*

On July 1, 2025, AFP filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion to reconsider or, in the alternative to amend. Memo. in Opp. On September 16, 2025, the circuit court issued another Form 4 Order, denying the motion without a hearing or further discussion. Order on Mot. to Recons. The order contains no analysis and simply concludes that “having given due and careful consideration to the memoranda filed in support of and opposition to [the Estate]’s motion, and fully reconsidered the [circuit c]ourt’s prior ruling, the [circuit c]ourt declines to alter or amend the order of April 8, 2025.” *Id.* This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” *Grimsley v. S.C. Law Enf’t Div.*, 396 S.C. 276, 281, 721 S.E.2d 423, 426 (2012) (quoting *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). “That standard requires the [c]ourt to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.” *Kelاهر, Connell & Conner, P.C. v. S.C. Workers’ Comp. Comm’n*, 435 S.C. 55, 60, 863 S.E.2d 842, 844 (Ct. App. 2021) (quoting *Grimsley*, 396 S.C. at 281, 721 S.E.2d at 426). “In considering a motion to dismiss a complaint based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action, the trial court must base its ruling solely on allegations set forth in the complaint.” *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 321, 701 S.E.2d 39, 44 (Ct. App. 2010). “The 12(b)(6) motion may not be sustained if the facts alleged and inferences therefrom would entitle

the plaintiff to any relief on any theory.” *Baird v. Charleston Cnty.*, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999).

“Normally, a motion to amend a pleading is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *Porter Bros., Inc. v. Specialty Welding Co.*, 286 S.C. 39, 41, 331 S.E.2d 783, 784 (Ct. App. 1985) (citing *Mylin v. Allen-White Pontiac, Inc.*, 281 S.C. 174, 314 S.E.2d 354 (Ct. App. 1984)). “The trial [court’s] finding will not be overturned without an abuse of discretion or unless manifest injustice has occurred.” *Sullivan v. Hawker Beechcraft Corp.*, 397 S.C. 143, 153, 723 S.E.2d 835, 840 (Ct. App. 2012) (alteration in original) (quoting *Berry v. McLeod*, 328 S.C. 435, 450, 492 S.E.2d 794, 802 (Ct. App. 1997)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the [circuit court]’s ruling is based upon an error of law or, when based upon factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Oulla v. Velazques*, 427 S.C. 428, 435, 831 S.E.2d 450, 453 (Ct. App. 2019) (alteration in original) (quoting *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987)).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in granting AFP’s motion to dismiss.

The circuit court erred in granting the motion to dismiss for several reasons. First, the circuit court dismissed the case based on the statute of limitations, which is not a valid ground to be raised in a pre-answer motion to dismiss. Second, in granting the motion, the circuit court relied on facts that were not found in, and in fact were refuted by, the allegations of the operative complaint. Finally, the circuit court failed to consider an alternate cause of action, which is subject to a different statute of limitations, and the Estate’s argument concerning equitable tolling. For these reasons, as explained more fully below, this Court should reverse the circuit court’s dismissal and remand the case for further proceedings.

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