RECEIVED

Feb 05 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001945

Lower Court Case No. 2023-CP-24-00800

The Estate of Herbert Rivers Anderson, Jr., by its Successor Personal Representative
J. Kershaw Spong.....Appellant,

v.

Anderson Family Properties of Greenwood, LLC.....Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Sarah Anderson Timmons [SC Bar # 100007]
TIMMONS BROGDON LAW FIRM, LLC
25 Delano Drive, Suite E
Greenville, SC 29601
Telephone: (864) 906-0289
sarah@timmonsbrogdon.com

*Counsel for Respondent Anderson Family

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court correctly granted AFP’s Motion to Dismiss the Estate’s claims pursuant to SCRCP 12(b)(6).

The circuit court correctly granted AFP’s motion to dismiss and held that the Estate’s claims were barred by the statute of limitations and that there was no legal authority supporting the Estate’s argument for equitable tolling. In granting the motion to dismiss, the court was permitted to take judicial notice of its own records, files and proceedings for all proper purposes including facts established in its records, as well as matters of public record. For these reasons, and as explained more fully herein, this Court should affirm the circuit court’s dismissal of the Estate’s complaint.

A. The circuit court correctly ruled that Appellant's claims were barred by the applicable statute of limitations in granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss.

The Estate contends that the trial court erred by imputing the dates real property was sold by AFP. The original Complaint asserted that real property connected to the first promissory note was sold in 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015 and that lots connected to the second promissory note were sold in 2014, 2015, and 2016. The deeds evidencing these transactions were recorded with the Register of Deeds and are of public record, which may be considered by the circuit court in ruling on a motion to dismiss. Despite the dates of sale clearly being known to the Estate and a pending motion to dismiss based on the statute of limitations, the new Personal Representative of the Estate in filing the Amended Complaint intentionally omitted this information in an effort to improperly circumvent the statute of limitations.

In its Motion to Reconsider, the Estate admitted, "The Amended Complaint was intentionally silent as to when lots were sold or when payments were made because such information was not readily available or apparent to the Plaintiff." (See Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider, p. 2-3). The fact that sales of property occurred in 2013, 2014, 2015, and 2016 was known to the Estate, of public record, and set forth in the original Complaint. Compl. ¶¶ 14-15.

In its initial appellate brief, the Estate admits same, "To be clear, the Estate does not refute sales took place during Anderson's lifetime. The deeds evidencing these sales are a matter of public record and were discovered during the successor personal representative's review of the available documents evidencing AFP's affairs. Those facts, however, do not appear in the Amended Complaint." (See App. Brief p. 14).

When a party actually discovers the existence of a public record does not change the effective date the public record put the public on constructive notice. Properly recorded documents, such as real estate records, provide constructive notice to the world from the moment they are

recorded, regardless of when a party becomes aware of them. *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 628 S.E.2d 869 (2006) (quoting *Epps v. McCallum Realty Co.*, 139 S.C. 481, 499, 138 S.E. 297, 303 (1927) (“recording amounts to notice, whether known or unknown, because the means of information are at hand”); *Franklin Bank, N.A. v. Bowling*, 74 P.3d 308, 313 (Colo. 2003) (en banc) (constructive notice in real estate transaction essentially is record notice)). Therefore, once a document is filed with the Register of Deeds, the public is presumed to know its contents, whether or not they have actually read it. This is even more so in this case, because Mr. Anderson, prior to his death, sold the relevant properties to AFP, which was owned by his wife, and was alive when the properties were sold.

The only logical reason for the Estate to intentionally omit the known dates of sales from the Amended Complaint is because the Estate knew its claims were barred by the statute of limitations and was attempting to circumvent the proper dismissal by amending the complaint to remove the dates of the transfers that were fatal to its claims. By filing an Amended Complaint omitting the dates of sale, the Estate improperly created the opportunity to challenge the dismissal of its claims on the basis a dispute exists as to when its claims arose and the statute of limitations expired.

Given that the Amended Complaint asserts that sales of property triggering AFP’s obligation to issue payments gives rise to its claims for breach of contract, the Estate admits that it knew, or was on constructive notice, of the dates the sales of property occurred when the Amended Complaint was filed, and concedes that sales of property occurred from 2012-2016, the

trial court's determination that the Estate's claims arose during this period and are time barred was proper².

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 provides that “an action upon contract, obligation, or liability, express or implied... must be brought within three years of the time the cause of action accrues.” The statute of limitations accrues on a breach of contract action at the time a contract is breached or broken. *Richland–Lexington Airport Dist. v. American Airlines, Inc.*, 306 F.Supp.2d at 566 (D.S.C.2002); also see *Wells Fargo Bank v. Carter*, No. CV 9:14-127-SB, 2014 WL 11034776, at *2 (D.S.C. July 22, 2014) (noting that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530's three-year statute of limitation applies to claims for unjust enrichment and quantum meruit).

The parties concede the validity of the 2012 Note and 2014 Note and that real property was sold by AFP in 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, and 2016, and that same was public record. Even if the Estate somehow attempts to argue that Mr. Anderson was somehow not aware of these sales although AFP was owned by his wife, the Estate cannot circumvent the fact that the Estate was on constructive notice of the transactions because the Estate did not “discover” the public records until later. The parties also concede that AFP was obligated to issue payments of 75% of its net profits from these sales to the Estate. The Amended Complaint claims that AFP breached its obligation to issue payments due from one or more of these sales.

Furthermore, the circuit court correctly dismissed the Estate's claims for quantum meruit and constructive trust as barred by the statute of limitations, because the allegations underpinning the Estate's claims for quantum meruit, constructive trust, and fraudulent conveyance under the

² Rejecting the dates of sale considered by the trial court results in the Estate's failure to state a claim for breach of contract because there is no evidence showing an obligation to make payments arose and AFP failed to satisfy the obligation.

Statute of Elizabeth were essentially the same as the Estate's claims for breach of contract, and therefore, they would also be barred by the 3-year statute of limitations. S.C. Code § 15-3-530.

Accordingly, the statute of limitations for the Estate to assert its claims expired three (3) years after the date of each sale, with the last potential claim expiring in 2019. The complaint was not filed until August 25, 2023; thus, the Estate's claims are barred by the statute of limitations.

The Estate contends that the trial court lacked the judicial authority to determine when the statute of limitations began to run. Appellant's brief cites to *Walbeck v. I'On Co.*, for the proposition that the statute of limitations is ordinarily a matter for the jury. 439 S.C. 568, 581, 889 S.E.2d 537, 543 (2023)³. In *Walbeck*, a question existed as to when the statute of limitations began to run in connection with claims for negligent misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary duty relating to representations made by the developer to the HOA. *Id.* at 579, 889 S.E.2d at 542-43.

The Supreme Court held that the statute of limitations issue depended on the question for the jury as to what date the date the HOA discovered the alleged harm; however, this determination was based on the central question of when the HOA was on notice of the developer's misrepresentations and breach of fiduciary duty in connection with a development. *Id.* at 584, 889 S.E.2d at 545. The instant case is a simple collection breach of contract action and the statute of limitations is clearly determined from the terms of the contracts and deeds which are of public record, not when a party discovers misrepresentations or breaches of fiduciary duty. Therefore, the Supreme Court's holding in *Walbeck* is not applicable or controlling in the instant case.

Here, the date the Estate's breach of contract claims arose is not in dispute. The parties concede that the 2012 Note and 2014 Note are the contracts at issue, which are not demand notes.

³ The Estate's brief cites this case as *Adkins v. I'On Co.* The correct citation is *Walbeck v. The I'On Company, LLC*.

There is no dispute that the sales of property giving rise to the Estate's alleged claims for breach of contract occurred from 2012-2016, which deeds are matters of public record. There is no question as to when the Estate's claims arose or when the statute of limitations began for a jury to determine and the circuit court properly held that the Estate's claims were barred by the statute of limitations. The Estate's argument that because it removed these dates when it filed the Amended Complaint and therefore, it should survive AFP's motion to dismiss, despite the transactions being of public record, simply fails. *See App. Br.*, p. 14, n. 6; *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 628 S.E.2d 869 (2006).

Moreover, the Estate's attempt to paint Mr. Spong as "the first truly independent person to review the Estate's affairs" (*App. Br.* at p. 15) does not affect the outcome and fails to take into account that the facts necessitating dismissal of the Estate's claims, as alleged in the Amended Complaint, Original Complaint, and which are of public record, took place during Mr. Anderson's lifetime. As explained *supra*, it is undisputed, and the circuit court correctly found based on the amended complaint, court filings, and public record, that Mr. Anderson transferred the real properties to AFP, which was a company owned by his wife, Mr. Anderson and AFP executed the 2012 Note and 2014 Note, the real properties were sold to third parties, the breaches of the 2012 Note and 2014 Note, and the statute of limitations had lapsed, all of which took place years before Mr. Anderson passed away. The Estate cannot not argue that prejudice or the current Personal Representative's discovery of public records of these transactions changes when the statute of limitations on the Estate's claims lapsed.

Finally, the Estate's claim for quantum meruit fails because the underlying allegations sound in contract and no claim in equity, including quantum meruit and constructive trust, can survive where the plaintiff has claims sounding in contract. "A party cannot disavow a binding

contract and pursue quantum meruit, no matter how green the grass of equity may seem.” *Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 355-56, 827 S.E.2d 178, 183 (S.C. App. 2019) (citing *Swanson v. Stratos*, 350 S.C. 116, 122, 564 S.E.2d 117, 120 (Ct. App. 2002); 66 Am. Jur. 2d Restitution and Implied Contracts § 68 (2018) (“[I]t is a defense to an action in quantum meruit that there is a valid express contract covering the supplied services or material furnished.” (footnotes omitted))).

Similarly, “[a] constructive trust results “[whenever] circumstances under which property was acquired make it inequitable that it be retained by the one holding legal title. These circumstances include fraud, bad faith, abuse of confidence, or violation of a fiduciary duty which gives rise to an obligation in equity to make restitution.” *Church v. Mcgee*, 391 S.C. 334, 344, 705 S.E.2d 481, 486-87 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing *Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A.*, 351 S.C. 287, 294, 569 S.E.2d 371, 375 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting *Hendrix v. Hendrix*, 299 S.C. 233, 235, 383 S.E.2d 468, 469 (Ct. App.1989)). In this instance, the Estate failed to assert any allegations in the amended complaint alleging circumstances of fraud, bad faith, abuse of confidence, or violation of a fiduciary duty which gives rise to an obligation in equity to make restitution under the theory of constructive trust. Therefore, even if the statute of limitations does not bar the Estate’s claims, which AFP submits the circuit court correctly concluded, the Estate’s claims fail on their face. The circuit court correctly dismissed Estate’s claims and the circuit court’s order should be affirmed.

B. The circuit court correctly granted Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss as there was no legal basis for equitable tolling of the statute of limitations.

The Estate’s brief alleges that the trial court should have considered the Estate’s argument that the statute of limitations was equitably tolled, because a potential conflict of interest might have caused the original personal representative of the Estate from asserting breach of contract claims against AFP prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations. App.’s Br., p. 16-17. The

current successor Personal Representative was appointed after the original Personal Representative voluntarily resigned. *See* Am. Compl., Ex. A.

This issue was extensively argued before the circuit court during a hearing and briefed by Respondent in its Memorandum in Opposition to Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. *See* Resp. Memo. in Opposition to Motion to Reconsider, pp. 4-5; *see generally* Court Hearing Transcript.

Equitable tolling is a nonstatutory, judicially created, tolling theory which "suspends a limitations period" under certain limited circumstances. *Hooper v. Ebenezer Sr. Servs. & Rehab. Cntr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009) (quoting *Ocana v. Am. Furniture Co.*, 135 N.M. 539, 91 P.3d 58, 66 (2004)). "Equitable tolling typically applies in cases where a litigant was prevented from filing suit because of an extraordinary event beyond his or her control." *Id.* (quoting *Ocana*, 135 N.M. 529, 91 P.3d at 66). In *Hooper*, the South Carolina Supreme Court noted that South Carolina courts had previously tolled the statute of limitations based on equitable considerations involving reliance by employees on employer's assurances that the claim would be taken care of without filing a claim ("reliance period"), where a healthcare facility failed to file a certificate of assumed name for its business designation and conspicuously post its facility license in public view as required by the law, when a party pursues alternative remedies, when a plaintiff has actively pursued his or her judicial remedies by filing a timely but defective pleading, or extraordinary circumstances outside the plaintiff's control make it impossible for the plaintiff to assert his or her timely claim, or where the plaintiff exercising reasonable diligence could not have discovered essential information bearing on his or her claim. *Id.* at 33 (citations omitted).

The circuit court correctly disregarded Appellant's argument that equitable tolling should have delayed the statute of limitations. As Respondent extensively argued at the hearing on the motion to dismiss and in its memorandum in opposition to Appellant's motion to reconsider, none

of those extraordinary circumstances are present here in the instant case and there is no legal support for applying such an extraordinary remedy in this case.

Appellant argues some conflict of interest existed with Mr. Charles Schulze, who served as the manager of defendant and subsequently served as the Personal Representative for Plaintiff upon Mr. Anderson's death in 2018.⁴ Notably, the circuit court's findings that the statute of limitations for the 2012 Note expired in 2015 and the statute of limitations for the 2014 Note lapsed in 2017 obviate Appellant's argument because Mr. Anderson was alive after both statutes of limitations for the 2012 Note and 2014 Note had run. Even assuming *arguendo*, that the statute of limitations expired after Mr. Anderson's death, Mr. Schulze, who had worked with Mr. Anderson and Mrs. Anderson and their respective businesses for decades and subsequently served as Mr. Anderson's personal representative and manager of the business, would not rise to the level of justifying the equitable tolling of the statute of limitations. *See* Resp. Memo. in Opp. to Mot. to Reconsider, p. 4.

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